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This twelve room house, constructed of hard-burned brick, 
has the mark and general appearance of a mid-19th century house. 
The gable roof is slate covered. The white-bracketed cornices on 
the porch columns and the medallioned entrance door have fine 
Victorian details. These details are similar to the details of the 
South Church entrance porches. „•••>.

The side hall provides entrances at both east and west sides 
of the building. The detailing of 10 1 high ceiling rooms have rich 
plaster cornices and a plaster medallion for the central hall 
lighting fixture. The parlor and library fireplaces are white 
marble. The hand-carved mahogany newel post and balusters are 
features of the main staircase.

The three bay 2 1/2 story unit has floor to ceiling 6/9 sash 
on the front facade. The lintels are sandstone as is the founda­ 
tion. The gabled roof has a return with brackets under the eaves. 
Appended to the south of this three bay unit is a two story two bay 
wing. The south wall is of random coursed sandstone (giving credence 
to the tradition of an earlier building on the site), but was 
apparently completely rebuilt when the main unit was constructed in 
1861.

Entrance from the front porch on the east side of the unit 
through the medallioned double doors leads into the side hall, 8'6" 
wide, facing the mahogany-railed staircase with a panelled base, 
under which is a stairway to the cellar, and the west side double 
doors. On the right of the hall is'the living room, 16* x 17', with 
two large east windows reaching to the floor (6/9) and 1 north 
window (6/6) and a marble face fireplace. The north and west 
windows have panelling to the floor.

On the left of the hall is the dining room, 22' x 15', with 
a restored fireplace, panelled and framed with a bolection molding, 
a built-in cupboard, and a back stairway. The south wall of 
the house is red sandstone taken from the original house. The 
cellar runs the length and width of the house and consists of two 
large rooms, a photography darkroom, and a preserve closet. There 
is a modern brick fireplace in the larger room.
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The second floor of the main wing has two bedrooms matching 
the first floor and dressing room and bath (added); the smaller wing 
has three bedrooms and bath, with a square hall leading to the back 
stairway. There is a crawl space over the small wing and a large 
high attic over the main wing.

There are two front porches extending the length of the 
house on the east leading on to a flagstone and brick patio, 
surrounded by Old English boxwood.

The outbuildings are a three-room cottage, early 19th century, 
attached to a carriage house of the same vintage as the main house 
and now used as a garage. The small building is an original tool 
shed. Below the shed is a large spring, emptying into Long Swamp 
Brook. It is believed that this spring was a deciding factor in 
building the South Church on its site across the street from the 
house, as it provided fresh water for the horses and the congre­ 
gation which enjoyed their noonday meal in the fine weather between 
morning and afternoon services.
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Architecture

The South Church Manse is a good example of a vernacular 
Victorian house of the third quarter of the 19th century. Perhaps 
the best example of its type in Bergenfield, the house has a tradi­ 
tional New Jersey block form with a linearly projecting wing. The 
floor to ceiling first floor front fenestration is relatively 
uncommon in New Jersey, but particularly rare is the 6/9 sash in 
these windows. Otherwise the building exhibits a very conventional 
plan and was probably derived from an architectural plan book of the 
period. Its standard form, traditional motifs, but detailed features 
indicate that this building was constructed by one of Bergenfield"s 
best mason/architects.

Religion

The former parsonage of the South Schraalenburgh Dutch Reformed 
Church served as the home of a series of domines from 1861 through 
1918. The original parsonage on this site was partially destroyed 
by a Tory raiding party in 1776. Following the building of a new 
church in 1799, the parsonage was renovated and restored in 1806. 
In 1861 a major reconstruction left the house as it presently 
appears. It served as a parsonage and theological seminary until 
1918 when it was bought as a residence by the family of the present 
owner, who made substantial interior restoration.

The house stands today on two handsomely landscaped acres, 
bound on the east by Long Swamp Brook and facing Cooper Park and the 
South Church and cemetery on the north. The church house, on 
extensive grounds, adjoins the house on the west.

The parsonage has therefore a rich, historic past and is 
an integral part of an impressive, unified assemblage of an 
architecturally harmonious group in a well landscaped setting.

The Manse was involved in countless social activities of 
the church since it was the only visible edifice within sight of the 
church for many years.
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The Manse was later the home of Adrian Coulter Leiby, a 
foremost historian on New Jersey, from childhood until his death in 
1976. He was a lawyer, author and historian. He graduated from 
Middlebury College in 1925 and from Columbia Law School in 1929, 
where he was an editor of the Law Review. In 1929-30 he served as 
law clerk to Mr. Justice Harlan F. Stone, and thereafter practiced 
law in New York City, and was for many years a senior partner in the 
New York and Washington law firm of LeBoeuf, Lamb, Leiby and Mac 
Rae.

History became his avocation, particularly the history of 
Dutch New Jersey and the Dutch Reformed Church.
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